RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN01-18-2017

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT II

NO. 2016AP2114 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff- Respondent,

v.

CYNTHIA A. HANSEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

Appeal From Final Order Signed and Entered October 17, 2016, Kenosha County Circuit Court Case No. 2015CM001439, The Honorable Jodi L. Meier, Presiding

James A. Walrath State Bar No. 1012151 LAW OFFICES OF JAMES A. WALRATH, LLC. 324 East Wisconsin Avenue, Suite 1410 Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202 (414) 202-2300

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

 Did the circuit court's colloquy with Cynthia Hansen at her guilty plea hearing show that Hansen was not aware of the essential elements of the crime of criminal damage to property? The circuit court ruled that that the plea hearing was sufficient.
(R. 36: 16-20; A. App. 137-141).

2. Did the record of the plea hearing show that there was an insufficient factual basis for her plea? The circuit court ruled that there was a sufficient factual basis for the plea. (R. 36: 16-20; A. App. 137-141).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is appropriate in this case to the extent that appellant's arguments do not fall under Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.22(2)(a); however, the briefs will likely fully develop the theories and legal authorities so that oral argument would be of marginal value.

Publication is not appropriate so long as this appeal is decided by one court of appeals judge under Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.23.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 10, 2015 appellant Cynthia Hansen ("Hansen") was charged with two misdemeanors, criminal damage to property and disorderly conduct for

an incident between Hansen and her wife, Alexis Hansen. On March 16, 2016 Hansen entered a plea of guilty to the criminal damage charge and agreed to make restitution in exchange for the prosecution's agreement to move for dismissal of the disorderly conduct count and an earlier misdemeanor charge of violating a domestic abuse injunction in Case No. 16CM26, and to recommend probation. (R. 1:1-5; A. App. 107-110; R. 17: 2-3; A. App. 117-118). Reserve Circuit Judge Mark A. Frankel accepted the plea, entered a judgment of conviction, granted the prosecution's dismissal motions, and ordered that Hansen be placed on probation with conditions that included payment of restitution to Alexis Hansen and performance of community service. (R. 12, 14, 20: A. App. 102-103). Hansen sought to vacate her plea by a post-conviction motion and her supporting affidavit (R. 23, 24; A. App. 104-106, 111-115). The motion was heard before Circuit Judge Jodi L. Meier on October 14, 2016 (R. 37; A. App. 122-154) and a written order denying the post-conviction request to vacate the plea was filed on October 17, 2016 (R. 27: A. App. 101).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Cynthia Hansen was accused by her wife, Alexis, of intentionally damaging a vehicle, which the criminal complaint described as "Alexis's car." The complaint noted that the damage resulted while the two were in a parking lot, just after they had started discussing paperwork for their divorce and got into an argument (R. 1:

1-2).

At the guilty plea hearing the court questioned Hansen about her own description of the offense that she "did some damage to a car and [that she would] have to pay for it." Hansen, answered the court's questions and stated that she damaged the car "without the consent of the owner" while knowing that she "didn't have consent of the owner at the time the damage was done." (R. 36: 4; A. App. 119). Later, she acknowledged that "the offense happened with regard to the property belonging to Alexis Hansen." (R. 36: 6; A. App. 121). But, although the court knew that Cynthia and Alexis were married at the time of the incident (R. 36: 7, 10), it did not ask Hansen during the plea colloquy whether she believed she had an ownership interest in the car because of their marriage or Wisconsin's marital property law.

At the post-conviction motion hearing, however, the prosecution stipulated (R. 37:15; A. App. 136) to the facts set out in Hansen's affidavit about her understanding, at the time of her plea, that the damaged vehicle was property in the marital estate (which was later subject to a marital property settlement agreement in the divorce) (R. 24: 1; A. App. 111, ¶2). Hansen's affidavit, which was received by the court lieu of post-conviction motion testimony by Hansen (R. 37:16; A. App. 137) also stated that she did not know that damaged marital "property of another," as the term is defined under Wisconsin law, would not be a basis for a

criminal damage prosecution if the accused spouse had the right to defeat or impair the interest of the other spouse (R. 24: 2; A. App. 112, ¶4, 7).

ARGUMENT

I. THE RECORD OF DEFENDANT'S GUILTY PLEA FAILED TO SHOW THAT THE DEFENDANT WAS AWARE OF THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF THE CRIME OF CRIMINAL DAMAGE TO MARITAL PROPERTY.

Under §971.08(1), Wis. Stat., the trial court was required to determine, and demonstrate on the record, that her plea of guilty was made "voluntarily with understanding of the nature of the charge. . . ." This has been described as a requirement going to the defendant's "awareness of the essential elements of the crime." <u>State v. Brandt</u>, 226 Wis. 2d 610, 619, 594 N.W.2d 759 (1999). See also, <u>State v. Lackershire</u>, 2007 WI 74, ¶31, 34, 301 Wis. 2d 418, 437, 734 N.W.2d 23. The United States Supreme Court in <u>McCarthy v. United States</u>, 394 U.S. 459, 466-67, 89 S.Ct. 116, 622 L.Ed.2d 418 (1969), addressed this colloquy requirement (under the comparable Rule 11 in federal criminal procedure) stating:

Moreover, because a guilty plea is an admission of all the elements of a formal criminal charge, it cannot be truly voluntary unless the defendant possesses an understanding of the law in relation to the factsRequiring this examination of the relation between the law and the acts the defendant admits having committed is designed to 'protect a defendant who is in the position of pleading voluntarily with an understanding of the nature of the charge but without realizing that his conduct does not actually fall within the charge.

The plea colloquy responsibilities of the trial court in this case were

complicated by the fact that the criminal damage to property of another statute does not, of itself, lay out all the elements of the offense. Rather, the statute, §943.01(1), Wis. Stats., borrows from a definition provision in Chapter 939 that clarifies the concept of "property of another." §939.22(28) itself sets forth a definition that has two components. On the one hand, "property of another" means property in which another person, other than the criminal actor, has a legal interest, even though the criminal actor may also have a legal interest in the property. However, in those circumstances where there are joint interest-holders in the property, the definition establishes criminal liability only if the criminal actor has "no right to defeat or impair" the legal interest of the other party. The definition adds an element to the offense, when allegedly committed in a joint ownership context, that the actor be found not to have a "right to defeat or impair" the legal interest of the complaining party.

The two statutes must be read together to complete the definition of the offense of criminal damage to property. It may be unnecessary to consider this complication, in those instances where there is no factual context involving joint ownership of the allegedly damaged property. But where joint ownership is involved, and particularly where the property is jointly owned by reason of marriage, as was the case here, the trial court has the responsibility of assuring that the defendant is aware of the additional element of the crime: where the accused is

8

a joint owner by marriage of the property, or is the spouse of the complainant who asserts a legal interest in the damaged property, as was the case here, the court must be assured that the defendant understands that the crime exists only if the defendant had no right to defeat or impair the other joint owner's or spouse's legal interest.

At the post-conviction motion hearing the prosecution relied on <u>State v.</u> <u>Sevelin</u>, 204 Wis.2d 127, 554 NW2d 521 (1996) to counter Hansen's arguments. But <u>Sevelin</u> is not useful for analyzing the issue here because, for one, Sevelin was convicted following a trial, and the issue of whether §939.22(28) had an impact on defining the essential elements of criminal damage to property never arose. The Court's short, two-paragraph discussion of whether a spouse can be convicted of criminal damage to property in which the spouse has an ownership interest did not consider the complication presented for guilty plea colloquies by the definition of "property pf another" found in §939.22(28). Moreover, no consideration appears to have been given to whether Mark Sevelin could have defended the accusation against him if he had asserted that his spousal, joint ownership interest could have legally impaired or defeated his wife's joint interest in any fashion.

The more relevant discussion of this statutory feature for offenses under § 943.01(1) appears in sexual assault cases where the courts have determined that guilty pleas were not knowingly made because the defendants were not advised of

the added elements of the offense found in the definitions section of Wis. Stat. § 948.01(5), even though the sexual assault offenses were otherwise described in separate provisions. The Court in <u>State v. Jipson</u>, 2003 WI App 222, 267 Wis.2d 467, 671 N.W.2d 18 stated:

WISCONSIN STAT. § 971.08(1) requires the trial court to determine a plea "is made voluntarily with understanding of the nature of the charge." To understand the nature of the charge, the defendant must be aware of all the essential elements of the crime. <u>State v. Nichelson</u>, 220 Wis.2d 214, 218, 582 N.W.2d 460 (Ct.App.1998). While it is true the purpose of the sexual contact is not an element of the crime listed under WIS. STAT. § 948.02(2), but rather is a definition of the element "sexual contact" found in WIS. STAT. § 948.01(5), the courts have nevertheless crafted this to be an element of the offense.

Id. at 220–21, 582 N.W.2d 460.

The issue is very real in this case because, as the exhibit to the affidavit of defendant Cynthia Hansen showed (R. 24: 5; A. App. 115, Exhibit 3) the divorce proceedings commenced by Alexis Hansen declared that Cynthia had a legal interest in the automobile which sustained damage. Most importantly, Cynthia Hansen's unrebutted post-conviction motion affidavit showed that she believed that her spousal interest in the automobile provided her with a right to impair Alexis Hansen's joint ownership interest (R. 24: 2; A. App. 112).

Cynthia's legal authority to impair Alexis's ownership interest is not beholden alone to marital property law. The Wisconsin legislature has excused a spouse from criminal liability for stealing, carrying away, using, transferring, concealing, or retaining the property in which the other spouse has an interest without that spouse's consent and with intent to deprive that other spouse permanently of such property. The legislature conferred a right to defeat or impair the other joint property owner's interest by means of theft, in all its possible variations, in §943.20(2)(c), where the "property of another" that is the subject of alleged theft includes jointly owned property "unless the actor and the victim are husband." During their marriage Cynthia Hansen had a right to steal, carry away, use, transfer, conceal, or retain the Ford Focus in dispute, or any part of it (for example, the damage hood), without the consent of Alexis, which obviously would defeat or impair Alexis's interest.

The trial court did not conduct any colloquy with Cynthia Hansen about this added element of the offense, where marital property was allegedly damaged. The transcript of the plea proceedings on March 16, 2016 shows that the Court covered Cynthia Hansen's understanding of the charge against her to the limited extent that it (1) involved damage to a car (2) without the consent of the owner (3) while knowing that the owner did not consent (R. 36: 4; A. App. 119). But there is no discussion or colloquy with regard to the fact that the Ford Focus was marital property, such that Cynthia Hansen was a co-owner, and that under certain circumstances she could defeat or impair Alexis's marital property interest. The Court was aware that Cynthia Hansen and Alexis Hansen were marital partners.

Moreover, the Court was advised that they were in the midst of a divorce when the incident occurred (R. 36; 6-7; A. App. 121-22), which the Court itself referenced (R. 36; 10-11).

Under these circumstances the plea could not be said to be knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently made. Cynthia Hansen was not made aware of the essential elements of the offense in this context, where the property alleged to have been damaged was marital property in which she held a recognized-legal interest and in which her spouse's interest could be impaired.

II. THE RECORD OF THE GUILTY PLEA HEARING FAILED TO ESTABLISH A FACTUAL BASIS SUFFICIENT TO SATISFY A COURT THAT THE DEFENDANT IN FACT COMMITTED THE CRIME OF CRIMINAL DAMAGE TO MARITAL PROPERTY.

Section 971.08(1)(b) imposes an additional "factual basis requirement" that must be satisfied before the Court can accept a defendant's guilty plea. The Court must "make such inquiry as satisfies it that the defendant in fact committed the crime charged." This requires a determination that the conduct which the defendant admits constitutes the offense charged. <u>Ernst v. State</u>, 43 Wis.2d 661,674, 170 NW2d 713 (1969). See also, <u>State v. Lackershire, supra</u>; <u>White v.</u> <u>State</u>, 85 Wis.2d 485, 271 NW2d 97 (1978). To satisfy the factual basis requirement, a judge must be satisfied that the facts, if proved, "constitute the offense charged and whether the defendant's conduct does not amount to a defense." <u>Edwards v. State</u>, 51 Wis.2d 231, 236, 182 NW2d 183 (1971). Here, as noted earlier, the plea colloquy did not involve a discussion or inquiry into the facts surrounding the Ford Focus as marital property, or the joint ownership status of the complainant and the defendant. Because, as noted above, the criminal damage statute borrows from the concept of "property of another" in the definition's provisions of Chapter 939, the court should have extended the inquiry to determine the facts in light of that definition. Had it done so, the factual determination necessarily would have led to an assessment of whether Cynthia Hansen, under any circumstance, had a right to defeat or impair Alexis Hansen's marital property interest in the vehicle. That inquiry was not conducted, and the defendant's guilty plea is defective for that additional reason.

Second, had the court conducted the inquiry it would have been compelled to determine that, under the facts of this particular case, where the complainant and the defendant were married, and the Wisconsin legislature had in effect excused Cynthia Hansen from impairing or defeating Alexis's interest in the vehicle, the charge of criminal damage to property could not have been committed *as a matter of law*. Accordingly, the trial court not only omitted the colloquy that satisfied the factual basis requirement, a sufficient factual inquiry would have revealed that no offense was committed at all. <u>State v. Sevelin</u>, 204 Wis.2d 127, 554 NW2d 521 (1996) simply does not consider the complication presented by the "defeat or impair" component of the definition of the offense found in §939.22(28), when

considered in conjunction with §943.20(2)(c)'s exception to criminal liability for thefts of marital property by a spouse.

Because an insufficient factual basis existed for the defendant's plea, and because a fuller examination of the underlying facts would have disclosed the fact that a crime was not committed, the defendant's plea should be invalidated. Cynthia Hansen's plea should have been vacated and the charge of criminal damage to property should have been dismissed.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, appellant Hansen respectfully requests that the decision and order of the circuit court be reversed and this matter should be remanded either with instructions that the criminal damage to property offense be dismissed or that the plea be vacated.