RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II CLERK OF CO

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

CASE NO. 2016AP2114 CR

State of Wisconsin, Plaintiff-Respondent,

Case No. 2015CM001439 (Kenosha County)

v.

Cynthia A. Hansen, Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Appeal from Final Order Signed and Entered October 17, 2016, Kenosha County Circuit Court Case No. 2015CM001439, The Honorable Jodi L. Meier, Presiding

BY:

Andrew J Burgoyne ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY STATE BAR NO. 1044850 OFFICE OF THE DISTRICT ATTORNEY 912 56TH STREET KENOSHA, WI 53140 (262) 653-2400

ISSUES

- 1. Has the Defendant met her initial burden of making a prima facie showing that the trial court failed to comply with Wis. Stat. § 971.08 or other mandatory procedures described in *Bangert* when it accepted her guilty plea? The circuit court ruled that the plea hearing was sufficient.
- 2. Was there a sufficient factual basis to support the Defendant's guilty plea at the time the plea was entered? The circuit court ruled that there was a sufficient factual basis to support the plea.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State is not requesting oral argument or publication.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State does not dispute the Statement of the Case and Statement of Facts prepared by the Defendant in any significant way.

ARGUMENT

I. The Defendant has Failed to Carry her Burden to Make a Prima Facie Showing that the Plea Colloquy was Deficient.

Wisconsin Statute Section 971.08(1) provides in relevant part that, before accepting a guilty or no contest plea, the trial court must "address the defendant personally and determine that the plea is made voluntarily with understanding of the nature of the charge."

In State v. Bangert, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held, "we now make it mandatory upon the trial judge to determine a defendant's understanding of the nature of the charge at the plea hearing by following any one or a combination of the following methods." 131 Wis. 2d 246, 267 (1986).

First, the trial court may summarize the elements of the crime charged by reading from the appropriate jury instructions, or from the applicable statute. Second, the trial judge may ask defendant's counsel whether he explained the nature of the charge to the defendant

and request him to summarize the extent of the explanation, including a recitation of the elements, at the plea hearing. Third, the trial judge may expressly refer to the record or other evidence of defendant's knowledge of the nature of the charge established prior to the plea hearing.

Id. at 268 (internal citations omitted).

When a defendant challenges the sufficiency of the plea hearing, "The initial burden rests with the defendant to make a *prima facie* showing that his plea was accepted without the trial court's conformance with § 971.08 or other mandatory procedures (described in the *Bangert* decision)." Id. at 274.

The Defendant claims that the plea colloquy was deficient, that it fails to demonstrate that her plea was made "voluntarily with understanding of the nature of the charge." Appellant's Brief at 7. She claims that the colloquy was deficient because the trial court did not review with the Defendant the statutory definition of "property of another" found at Wis. Stat. § 939.22(28). Id. at 8-11. She claims that this definition creates an additional element of the criminal damage to property offense that was not covered at the plea colloquy. Id.

However, the trial court covered all of the elements found in the relevant statute (Wis. Stat. § 943.01) and jury instruction (WIS JI-Criminal 1400).

The Defendant is not content with the elements enumerated in the jury instruction and the statute and proposes a radical alteration to those elements. The Defendant proposes adding an element to the offense based on its reading of the definitions section of the Wisconsin Criminal Code.

In support of this argument, the Defendant relies upon State v. Jipson, 267 Wis. 2d 467 (App. 2003). In Jipson, the appellate court recognized that the meaning of sexual contact found in the definitions section (Wis. Stat. § 948.01(5)) was, in fact, an element of the crime of second degree sexual assault of a child (Wis. Stat. § 948.02(2)). Id. at 470, 473. In discussing this holding, the Jipson Court noted that it was following previously established judicial precedent. Id. at 473 ("[T]he courts have nevertheless crafted this to be an element of the offense." (emphasis added).

The specific precedent on this issue was apparently established in *State v. Nichelson*, 220 Wis.2d 214 (Ct. App. 1998). In Footnote 4 of the *Jipson* decision, that court noted, "The [*Nichelson*] court concluded, with little explanation because the State agreed, that sexual gratification is an element of sexual assault." 267 Wis.2d at 473.

Nichelson appears to be a rather unique case. At Nichelson's plea hearing, the trial court failed to engage Nichelson in a colloquy about his "understanding of the nature of the charges against him," but instead seemed to rely upon a short, poorly developed discussion on the record between Nichelson and his trial counsel. 220 Wis.2d at 219-20. It appears that Nichelson's trial counsel did not summarize on the record in any real detail the conversation with Nichelson in which the elements of the offense were explained or recite the elements at the plea hearing. *Id.* Therefore, it appears that the plea hearing in *Nichelson* did not comply with the *Bangert* holding.

Furthermore, the appellate court made note of the fact that Nichelson had a mental handicap and had given statements to the police "that his defense was based on the allegedly accidental nature of the contact." Id.

Nichelson is a unique case that established a unique legal precedent that an element of a crime could be found in the definitions section rather than in the statute which defined the crime. The State is not aware of any other line of Wisconsin cases where an element of a crime is found in the definitions section.

Nor is the State aware of sound legal reasons to expand the *Nichelson* line of cases by holding that other

definitions sections also create elements of crimes. Extending the *Nichelson* line of cases by holding that other crimes also have additional elements not found in the statute which creates the crime but instead found in a definitions section would only serve to create unnecessary traps for insufficiently informed trial court judges conducting plea colloquys. Public policy favors clarity. Adopting the Defendant's argument that additional definitions statutes create additional elements to existing crimes does not promote clarity but a great deal of confusion instead.

Furthermore, unlike in *Nichelson*, the State is not here conceding that the trial court in the instant case failed to address an element of the crime.

Section 939.22(28) which defines "property of another" is the definitional statute at issue in this appeal. There does not appear to be any precedent for treating the language of that definition as a new element for any crime.

In reviewing the other thirty-six subsections to this statute, the State is not aware of any precedent where any of those definitions have been held to create a new element of a criminal offense.

For example, the definition of "Peace Officer" found in subsection 22 does not create new elements to the

offense of Battery to a Peace Officer. Rather, it clarifies who should be treated as a peace officer for purposes of the existing element of that offense.

Similarly, in a misdemeanor battery prosecution under Wis. Stat. § 940.19(1), the State is required to prove that bodily harm was caused. Bodily harm is an element of that offense. The definition of "bodily harm" found at Wis. Stat. § 939.22(4) does not create new elements of the offense. Rather, it clarifies what constitutes bodily harm under the existing element and what does not.

The State is not aware of any reason that the definition found in subsection twenty-eight should be treated differently than the other definition sections as the Defendant would have this court do.

In State v. Sevelin, the appellate court specifically considered whether a defendant could be found guilty of criminally damaging marital property. 204 Wis.2d 127 (1996). The court held that Sevelin's conviction was proper. Id.

The court specifically addressed Wis. Stat. § 939.22(28) in that decision. *Id.* at 131. The court held, "This section unambiguously means that a person can be convicted of criminal damage to property even though he or

she has an ownership interest if someone else also has an ownership interest." Id.

In reaching that conclusion, the court stated, "One of the elements the State must prove to sustain a conviction is that the property damaged was the 'property of another.'" Id. If, as the Defendant claims, Section 939.22(28) creates an additional "no right to defeat or impair" element for this offense, then the Sevelin decision would have been the perfect time for the appellate court to have announced this additional element. However, no such announcement was made.

Rather than creating a new element, the *Sevelin* Court appears to have asserted that Section 939.22(28) merely provides clarification of the 'property of another' element when such clarification is necessary or helpful.

This 'clarifying rather than creating' position is the same position taken by the Criminal Jury Instructions Committee. WIS JI-CRIMINAL 1400 lists five elements of the offense of Criminal Damage to Property under Wis. Stat. § 943.01. The third element in the list is that, "The property belonged to another person." *Id.* The Defendant's "no right to defeat or impair" language is not listed as an element. *Id.* Instead, this language is described in Footnote 3 as being part of the definition of "property of

another." Id. Nothing in the jury instruction supports the Defendant's claim that there is an additional element of the offense. Id.

Rather than creating a new element of the offense, the better reading of Wis. Stat. § 939.22(28) is that the statute clarifies an existing element or establishes a privilege defense in certain cases.

WIS JI-CRIMINAL 1400 provides a helpful example of the 'clarifying rather than creating' line of reasoning in Comment 4 which states, "If definition of 'without consent' is believed to be necessary, see Wis JI-Criminal 948 which provides an instruction based on the definition provided in § 939.22(48)." Comment 4 does not state that the definition language found in the statutes creates a new element of the offense that must be addressed at plea hearings. Rather, it states that, when the existing element of "without consent" needs to be further defined or clarified, further definition is available in the definitions section of the Criminal Code.

In addition to clarifying an element of the offense, § 939.22(28) may also elaborate a privilege defense that would be available to some defendants prosecuted for criminal damage to property. The relevant language of that subsection which the Defendant has focused on in this

appeal is "which the actor has no right to defeat or impair."

Wisconsin Statute § 939.54(6) recognizes a defense of privilege "When for any other reason the actor's conduct is privileged by the statutory or common law of this state." Section 939.22(28) recognizes that, in some cases, a joint owner may have a right to defeat or impair a co-owner's legal interest in property. In those cases, the defendant joint owner would have available an affirmative defense to the charge of criminal damage to property.

However, "It is well-established that a plea of guilty, knowingly and understandingly made, constitutes a waiver of nonjurisdictional defects and defenses, including claimed violations of constitutional rights." *County of Racine v. Smith*, 122 Wis.2d 431, 434 (Ct. App. 1984).

Furthermore, the plea-taking court has no obligation to review all possible defenses with a defendant. State v. Pohlhammer, 82 Wis.2d 1, 3 (1978) ("this holding... is not to be read to create a duty upon trial courts to inform defendants of possible statutory defenses to the charges brought or to secure waivers of those defenses..."). For example, in State v. Burton, the Supreme Court of Wisconsin held,

circuit courts engage in personal colloquies in order to protect defendants against violations of their fundamental constitutional rights. Because neither the federal constitution nor the Wisconsin Constitution confers a right to an insanity defense, a court has no obligation to personally address a defendant in regard to the withdrawal of an NGI plea.

349 Wis.2d 1, 42-43 (2013) (internal quotations omitted).

At the time that the Defendant pled guilty to Criminal Damage to Property, the trial court engaged her in a colloquy, discussing each of the elements of the offense. R. 36:1-6. Specifically, the trial court discussed with the Defendant each of the five elements listed in WIS JI-CRIMINAL 1400. *Id.* After this colloquy, the court found that the Defendant made a "free, voluntary and intelligent plea to the charge." *Id.* at 6:12-13. Thus, the trial court satisfied the colloquy requirement set forth in *Bangert*.

Since the trial court followed the procedure required by *Bangert*, this Court should hold that the Defendant has failed to make her required prima facie showing that the plea colloquy was deficient.

At best, the definition statute which the Defendant relies upon in her appeal created for her a possible privilege defense which she could have pursued at trial.

However, her privilege to defeat or impair a coowner's interest in property is not a fundamental right

found in either the federal or state constitution. If she had the privilege, it would have been statutory and not constitutional. Therefore, by entering a plea of guilty to the offense, she waived this privilege defense.

Nor does this waiver of her privilege defense work a manifest injustice in the Defendant's case. In fact, she has admitted that she discussed this possible defense with her trial counsel before making a decision to enter a guilty plea. R. 24:1-2. In her affidavit, the Defendant swore,

I discussed my belief, that I should have had a defense to the charge because the vehicle was marital property, with my attorney, Cassi Baumgardner, on March 16, 2016, prior to my plea. She advised me that the law in Wisconsin permitted criminal damage convictions against spouses for intentionally damaging marital property and that I did not have a marital property defense. Based on that explanation, I agreed to plead guilty.

(Emphasis added.)

Despite the fact that the Defendant may now once again believe that she should have had "a defense" to the charge, the record is clear that she pled guilty, waiving her right to present this defense. At no point in her postconviction motion or appeal has she alleged that her trial counsel provided her ineffective assistance. Therefore, she is not entitled to withdraw her plea merely because she

now believes the law may afford her a defense that her trial counsel did not think was viable.

Based on all of the above rationale, this Court should find that a legally sufficient plea colloquy was conducted.

II. Contrary to the Defendant's Assertions, a Sufficient Factual Basis for the Defendant's Plea was Established at the Plea Hearing.

Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 971.08, when a court accepts a guilty plea it should determine that there is a sufficient factual basis to support that plea. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has held that, when a trial court determines that there is a sufficient factual basis to support the conviction, an appellate court should "not upset these factual findings unless they are contrary to the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence." *Broadie v. State*, 68 Wis.2d 420, 423 (1975). The *Broadie* Court also held, "Where as here, the guilty plea is pursuant to a plea bargain, the court need not go to the same length to determine whether the facts would sustain the charge as it would where there is no negotiated plea." *Id.* at 423-24.

A judge is not required to establish a factual basis in any one particular manner. *State v. Thomas*, 232 Wis.2d

714, 729-30 (2000). "It makes sense for a court to view the record in its totality when a judge's initial inquiry into the factual basis may be satisfied by multiple sources spanning the entirety of the record." *Id.* at 730. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has also held, "We decline to rewrite § 971.08(1)(b) as requiring the circuit judge to conduct a mini-trial at every plea hearing to establish that the defendant committed the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Black*, 242 Wis.2d 126, 138-39 (2001).

When a Defendant enters a guilty plea she admits all facts alleged in the charging document. *State v. Rachwal*, 159 Wis.2d 494, 506 (1991).

In State v. Merryfield, the defendant plead guilty to two counts of felony bail jumping. 229 Wis.2d 52, 60 (Ct. App. 1999). However, he later sought to withdraw the guilty pleas, arguing that a sufficient factual basis had not been established at the plea hearing. *Id.* Specifically, he argued that, he was only on bond for a misdemeanor, not for a felony, at the time of the offenses. *Id.* at 58.

However, the appellate court noted that Merryfield was asking the court decide an issue of fact. *Id.* at 61. The court held, "That type of evidentiary inquiry would be well

beyond the purpose of the statutory 'factual basis' inquiry..." Id. at 60. The court elaborated on this holding by saying,

The purpose of requiring a trial court inquiry into the factual basis for a crime to which a plea of guilty or no contest is tendered, however, is *not* to resolve factual disputes about what did or did not happen at or before the time of the alleged offense that is the function of a trial, which a defendant who pleads other than not guilty expressly waives.

Id. at 61.

In the present case, the Defendant argues that there was an insufficient factual basis to support her plea because the issue of whether she had a legal right to defeat or impair Alexis Hansen's interest in the vehicle was not addressed at the plea hearing. App. Brief at 13.

However, such inquiry was not necessary. As argued above, the State does not believe the "no right to defeat" language in Wis. Stat. § 939.22(28) is an element of the offense, but instead either clarifies an element or sets forth a privilege potentially available as a defense.

Had the plea-taking court thoroughly explored the factual issue of whether the Defendant's actions were privileged, it would have embarked upon what would have amounted to a "mini-trial" to resolve that issue. It is exactly this type of "mini-trial" which the *Black* Court and

the *Merryfield* Court held was unnecessary for a trial court to engage in at a plea colloquy.

A sufficient factual basis can be established without engaging in such a "mini-trial" and was, in fact, established in this case. By questioning the Defendant on each of the elements listed in WIS JI-CRIMINAL 1400 and securing her admission to the factual basis for each of those elements, the trial court established a solid factual basis for accepting the guilty plea.

Even if the colloquy itself had been deficient on the factual basis issue, pursuant to *Rachwal*, the court would have been entitled to rely upon the factual basis set forth in the criminal complaint.

In this case, the criminal complaint sets forth a factual basis for all of the necessary elements (R. 1).

Even if this Court should adopt the Defendant's argument and treat the "no right to defeat or impair" language of the definition statute as an element of the offense, the criminal complaint still establishes a sufficient factual basis. Specifically, the complaint provides, "When Alexis confronted the defendant, the defendant apologized and said that she would take care of it." (R. 1:2). The complaint also provides, "Alexis

texted the defendant, who replied, once again, that she would take care of the damage." Id.

As the Supreme Court of Wisconsin has previously held, "There must be facts in the written complaint which are themselves sufficient or give rise to reasonable inferences which are sufficient to establish probable cause." State ex. rel. Evanow v. Seraphim, 40 Wis.2d 223, 226 (1968).

In the criminal complaint filed in the present case, there are factual assertions that the Defendant apologized for causing the damage to Alexis' vehicle and agreed to "take care of it" (R. 1:2). The reasonable inference to be drawn from those assertions is that the Defendant agreed to pay for the damage she caused to the vehicle because she recognized that she had no right to defeat or impair Alexis' interest in the vehicle. Therefore, even if the court should adopt the Defendant's argument that the "no right to defeat or impair" language should be treated as an element, there is still a sufficient factual basis for the plea when the totality of the record is considered.

Finally, public policy dictates that this Court not adopt the Defendant's position requiring a new element in Criminal Damage to Property prosecutions. As a practical matter, if the Court adopted the Defendant's position, the State could no longer charge Criminal Damage to Property in

marital property cases. Prior to issuing charges, the State has no practical way to research and determine each spouse's "right to defeat or impair" the other spouse's legal interest in the marital property.

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